IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

TOBY KLUMP, )
LElI GH KLUWP and ) Gvil Action

CHRI STOPHER KLUWP, ) No. 04-CV-03606

)

Plaintiffs )

)

VS. )

)

NAZARETH AREA SCHOCOL DI STRI CT; )

VI CTOR J. LESKY, Superintendent; )

MARGARET GRUBE, )

Assi stant Principal; and )

SHAWN Kl MBERLY KOCHER, )

)

Def endant s )

* * *

APPEARANCES:
TI MOTHY J. PRENDERGAST, ESQUI RE
On behal f of Plaintiffs

M CHAEL |. LEVIN, ESQUI RE
ANDRI A B. SAI A, ESQUI RE
JOSHUA B. AXELROD, ESQUI RE
KRI STIN O FROVAL, ESQUI RE
On behal f of Defendants

* * *

MEMORANDUM

JAMES KNOLL GARDNER,
United States District Judge

This matter is before the court on Defendants Nazareth
Area School District, Victor J. Lesky, Margaret G ube, and
Ki nberly Kocher’s Mbtion to Dism ss. W al so consi dered
Plaintiffs’ Menorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion
to DDsmss Plaintiffs’ Conplaint and Defendants’ Reply Brief in

Support of Defendants’ Mtion to Dismss Plaintiffs’ Anended



Conpl aint. For the reasons expressed below, we grant in part and
deny in part defendants’ notion to dism ss.

Specifically, we grant defendants’ notion to dismss
Counts | and V. W also dism ss defendant Nazareth Area Schoo
District fromCounts Il, IIl, and X. W dismss the claimfor
conpensatory and punitive danmages from Count VII. W strike al
references to 18 Pa.C. S. A. 88 3926(b), 4120 and 5301 from
par agraph 20 of plaintiffs’ Conplaint. |In all other respects, we

deny defendants’ notion to dismss.

SUMVARY OF DECI SI ON

Plaintiffs Toby Klunp and Leigh Klunp are the parents
of plaintiff Christopher Kl unp, who was a student at Nazareth
Area Hi gh School, operated by defendant Nazareth Area School
District. Defendant Victor J. Lesky is the Superintendent of the
school district; defendant Margaret G ube is an Assi stant
Principal at the high school; and defendant Shawn Ki nberly Kocher
is a teacher there.

In their First Amended Conplaint, plaintiffs allege
that Ms. Kocher confiscated Christopher’s cell phone because he
di splayed it during school hours, in violation of a school policy
prohi biting the use or display of a cell phone during school.
Subsequently Ms. Kocher and Assistant Principal Gube called nine

ot her students listed in Christopher’s phone nunber directory to



determ ne whether they, too, were violating the school’s cel
phone policy.

The assistant principal and teacher al so accessed
Chri stopher’s text nessages and voice mail. They also held a
conversation wth Christopher’s younger brother by using the cel
phone’s Anerica Online Instant Messaging feature, w thout
identifying thensel ves as bei ng anyone ot her than Chri st opher.

Plaintiffs filed a ten-count |awsuit against the school
district, superintendent, assistant principal and teacher
al l eging several federal and state clainms. Before the court is
defendants’ notion to dismss plaintiffs’ First Amended
Conpl ai nt .

Count | is a claimagainst all defendants under section
5703 of Pennsylvania s Wretapping and El ectronic Surveillance
Control Act (“Wretap Act”), 18 Pa.C.S. A 8§ 5703, for
intercepting and replying to text nessages sent to Christopher
Klump’s cell phone. W grant defendants’ notion to dism ss
Count | because plaintiffs |lack standing to assert a clai munder
section 5703 of the Wretap Act. W so hold because that cause
of action belongs only to the person with whomthe conmmuni cati on
ori gi nated (anyone who tel ephoned Christopher and | eft nessages),
not with the recipient of those nessages (Christopher) or his

parents.



Count Il is a claimagainst defendants school district,
assi stant principal and teacher under section 5741 of the Wretap
Act, 18 Pa.C. S. A 8 5741, based upon defendants’ access to
Chri stopher’s stored voice nmail and text nessages. W deny
defendants’ notion to dism ss Count Il because plaintiff
Chri stopher Klunp has standing to assert a clai munder section
5741 of the Wretap Act. W so hold because section 5741
suggests that either the sender or recipient has standing.

Accordi ngly, Christopher Klunp has standing to assert that claim

However, we grant defendants’ notion to dism ss
plaintiffs’ claimbased on defendants accessing plaintiff’s phone
nunmber directory and call |og because Christopher’s phone nunber
directory and call |og are not comunications. W also grant the
notion of defendant school district to dismss plaintiffs’ clains
against it because the school district has imunity fromthe
claims in Count Il under the Pennsylvania Political Subdivision
Tort O ainms Act.

In Count |1l plaintiffs allege that all defendants are
liable for invasion of privacy for publishing statenents which
pl ace Christopher in a false light to his neighbors, classmates,
teachers and the conmmunity at |large by reporting to various news
outlets that Christopher was under suspicion of being a drug
deal er or otherw se involved in drug use and distribution.

Def endants’ notion to dismss Count IlIl as to defendants G ube



and Kocher is denied because plaintiffs sufficiently allege that
t hose defendants published statenments which placed Christopher in
a false light.

Def endant Lesky, as superintendent of the school
district, qualifies as a high public official. Notw thstanding
the absolute imunity of high public officials under Pennsyl vania
law fromcivil suits for damages arising out of false or
defamatory statenents, we find that plaintiffs mght be able to
prove a set of facts show ng that Superintendent Lesky is not
entitled to claiminmunity because he acted outside his
authority. For exanple, plaintiffs contend that defendant Lesky
told the press that Christopher Klunp was involved in drugs
despite knowing this to be false. Therefore, defendants’ notion
to dismss Count Il as to defendant Lesky is denied.

Finally, we grant defendants’ notion to dismss
Count 11l with respect to the clains against defendant school
district. W so hold because the school district is protected by
the grant of imunity found in section 8541 of the Pennsylvani a
Political Subdivision Tort CGains Act, 42 Pa.C S. A § 8541.

Count 1V alleges defamation based on sl ander per se
agai nst defendant Lesky. Defendants’ notion to dismss Count |V
as to defendant Lesky is denied for the sanme reason that we
deni ed defendants’ notion to dismss Count |1l as to defendant

Lesky. (Plaintiffs mght be able to prove a set of facts which



woul d show that Superintendent Lesky is not entitled to claim
immunity as a high public official because he acted outside of
his authority.)

Count V all eges that defendant school district is
liable for the actions of defendant Lesky in commtting
defamati on and sl ander per se. Defendants’ notion to dismss
Count V as to defendant school district is granted for the sane
reason that we granted defendants’ notion to dismss Count Il as
to defendant school district. (The school district is protected
by the grant of immunity found in section 8541 of the
Pennsyl vani a Political Subdivision Tort Cains Act.)

In Count VI plaintiffs aver that by accessing
Chri stopher Kl unp’s phone nunber directory, voice mail and text
messages, and subsequently using the phone to call individuals
listed in the directory, defendants G ube and Kocher viol ated
Chri stopher’s Fourth Amendnment right to be free from unreasonabl e
searches and seizures. Although the neaning of “unreasonable
searches and seizures” is different in the school context than
el sewhere, it is nonethel ess evident that there nust be sone
basis for initiating a search. A reasonable person could not
bel i eve ot herw se.

Here, according to plaintiffs’ allegations, there was

no such basis. Accordingly, we deny defendants’ notion to



di sm ss Count VI because defendants G ube and Kocher have not
established that they are entitled to qualified i nunity.

Count VI alleges that defendants school district,
Lesky, G ube and Kocher violated the rights of Christopher Kl unp
to be secure agai nst unreasonabl e searches and sei zures as
guaranteed by the Pennsylvania Constitution. W grant
defendants’ notion to dismss plaintiffs’ claimfor conpensatory
and punitive damages for violating Article I, Section 8 of the
Pennsyl vani a Constitution because Pennsyl vania courts have held
that no actions for noney damages may be brought for violation of
t he Pennsyl vania Constitution. However, we do not dism ss
plaintiffs’ clains for declaratory and injunctive relief because
those clains do not seek nonetary damages under the Pennsyl vani a
Consti tution.

Count VIl alleges that defendant school district
violated plaintiff Christopher Klunp's constitutional rights
(without clearly stating which particular rights were viol at ed)
by failing to inplenment policies, practices and procedures
designed to protect students’ rights, and thereby failing to
prevent its enployees fromviolating the Fourth Anmendnent rights
of students. It appears that defendants are asserting in
Count VII1 that because defendant school enployees G ube and
Kocher are liable for violating Christopher’s rights to be secure

from unr easonabl e searches and sei zures under both the United



States Constitution (Count VI) and the Pennsyl vania Constitution
(Count VII), that defendant school district is equally liable for
t hose vi ol ati ons.

We believe that this is sufficient to state a claimin
Count VI1I. Because Christopher Klunp' s federal Fourth Amendnent
claimin Count VI, and part of Christopher’s state clai munder
Article I, Section 8 of the Pennsylvania Constitution, each
survived defendants’ notion to dism ss, we deny defendants’
nmotion to dismss this related Count VIII.

In Count I X plaintiffs assert that defendants G ube and
Kocher were negligent in using Christopher’s cell phone to cal
ot her students, access his text nessages and voice mail,
searching the cell phone directory and providing a basel ess
justification to Superintendent Lesky for their behavior. W
deny defendants’ notion to dism ss Count | X because plaintiffs
have sufficiently pled a short and plain statenent of their
negl i gence claimunder the federal notice pleading requirenents
found at Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8.

In Count X plaintiffs seek punitive damages from al
def endants. W grant defendant school district’s notion to
dismss plaintiffs’ punitive danmages cl ai m because both United
States Suprene Court and Suprene Court of Pennsylvani a precedents
prohi bit the assessnent of punitive damages agai nst public

entities. Therefore, punitive damages are not avail abl e agai nst



def endant school district under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. However, we
deny the notion to dismss the claimof plaintiffs for punitive
damages agai nst the renmai ni ng def endants Lesky, G ube and Kocher
because there is no such precedent prohibiting the assessnent of
puni tive damages agai nst individual defendants.

Def endants nmake three additional argunents not tied to
any particular count of the First Anended Conplaint. First,
def endants seek dism ssal of this |awsuit agai nst defendant
Superi ntendent of School s, defendant Assistant Principal and
def endant teacher in their individual capacities because
plaintiffs’ lawsuit is essentially a suit against the public
entity, the Nazareth Area School District.

W di sagree because the | anguage of plaintiffs’ First
Amended Conpl ai nt does not indicate that plaintiffs intended to
sue the individual defendants in their official capacities.
Personal -capacity suits are limted to instances in which the
official is acting under color of state law. Here it is
sufficiently alleged that the individual defendants were acting
under col or of state |aw

Second, defendants nove to dism ss the clainms of
plaintiffs Toby Kl unp and Leigh Klunp fromthis suit, arguing
t hat because plaintiff Christopher Klunp is an adult, his parents
have no standing to assert his substantive rights agai nst

defendants. W deny defendants’ notion to dism ss because



plaintiffs Toby Kl unp and Leigh Klunp are asserting their own
substantive rights as owners of Christopher’s cell phone and as
subscribers to that cell phone’s T-nobile service network.

Third, defendants request that we strike plaintiffs’
all egations of violations of 18 Pa.C S. A 88 3926(b), 4120 and
5301 from paragraph 20 of the First Anended Conplaint. W grant
def endants’ request because none of the ten counts in plaintiffs’
First Amended Conplaint refers to these statutes, and no factual

basi s has been plead for these alleged violations.

JURI SDI CT1 ON_AND VENUE

Jurisdiction is based upon federal question
jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1331 and 1441(b). Venue is
proper pursuant to 28 U S.C. 8§ 1391(b) because the events giving
rise to plaintiffs’ clains allegedly occurred in Northanpton

County, Pennsylvania, which is located in this judicial district.

FACTS
Based upon the allegations contained in the First
Amended Conpl ai nt, which we nust accept as true for the purposes
of this notion, the operative facts are as foll ows.
The events giving rise to plaintiffs’ First Amended
Conpl ai nt occurred on March 17, 2004. At that tine, plaintiff

Chri stopher Klunp was a student at Nazareth Area Hi gh School .
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The hi gh school has a policy which permts students to
carry, but not use or display cell phones during school hours.
On March 17, 2004 Christopher’s cell phone fell out of his pocket
and canme to rest on his leg. Upon seeing Christopher’s cel
phone, Shawn Ki nberly Kocher, a teacher at the high school,
enforced the school policy prohibiting use or display of cel
phones by confiscating the phone. These events occurred at
approxi mately 10:15 a. m

Subsequently, M. Kocher, along with Assistant
Princi pal Margaret G ube, began maki ng phone calls with
Chri stopher’s cell phone. M. Kocher and Ms. Gube called nine
ot her Nazareth Area H gh School students listed in Christopher’s
phone nunber directory to determ ne whether they, too, were
viol ating the school’s cell phone policy.

Next, defendants Kocher and Grube accessed
Chri stopher’s text nmessages and voice mail. Finally, defendants
Kocher and Grube held an Anerica Online Instant Messagi ng
conversation wwth M. Klunp's younger brother w thout identifying
t hensel ves as bei ng anyone other than the primary user of the
cell phone, Christopher Kl unp.

On March 22, 2004, Christopher Klunp’'s parents,
plaintiffs Toby Klunp and Leigh Klunp, nmet with Ms. Kocher, M.
G ube, and Assistant Superintendent D ane Dautrich regarding the

events of March 17. During that neeting, Ms. Gube told M. and
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Ms. Klunp that while she was in possession of their son’s phone,
Chri stopher received a text nmessage fromhis girlfriend
requesting that he get her a “f***in’ tanmpon”.! The term
“tanpon”, Ms. Grube later averred, is a reference to a |l arge
marijuana cigarette and pronpted her subsequent use of the phone
to investigate possible drug use at the school.

Based upon the foregoing facts, plaintiffs filed a
Compl aint in the Northanpton County Court of Common Pleas. The
| awsuit was renoved to federal court by defendants on July 29,
2004. Plaintiffs’ First Amended Conplaint alleges ten causes of
action stemmng fromthe violation of various state and federal
prot ections.

Count | charges defendants Nazareth Area Schoo
District, Victor J. Lesky, Margaret G ube and Shawn Kinberly
Kocher with violating 18 Pa.C.S. A. 8§ 5703, which prohibits
i nterception, disclosure or use of wire, electronic or oral
communi cations. Count Il is also based on the Pennsyl vani a
wi retapping | aw, and charges defendants school district, G ube,
and Kocher wth violating 18 Pa.C S. A 8§ 5741, which prohibits
unl awf ul access to stored comuni cati ons.

Counts Ill, IV, and V raise comon-law tort clains.

Count 111 alleges that defendants school district, Lesky, G ube,

1 Plaintiffs assert that an exanination of the rel evant phone

records reveal ed that the text nessage was not received during Ms. Grube’s
possessi on of the phone, but rather was received on March 16, 2004.
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and Kocher are liable for invasion of privacy on the grounds that
t hey published statenents which place plaintiff in a false |light.
Count 1V, agai nst defendant Lesky, asserts a cause of action for
def amati on based on sl ander per se.? Count V, also based on
def amati on and sl ander per se, alleges that the school district
is liable for the actions of defendant Lesky.

Counts VI, VIl and VIII assert clains based on rights
guaranteed by the United States Constitution and by the
Pennsyl vani a Constitution. Count VI, against defendants G ube
and Kocher, alleges violation of plaintiff Christopher Kl unp’'s
Fourth Amendnent right to be free from unreasonabl e searches and
seizures. Count VII alleges that defendants school district,
Lesky, G ube and Kocher violated plaintiffs’ simlar rights to be
free from unreasonabl e searches and sei zures under Article I,
Section 8 of the Constitution of the Comonweal t h of
Pennsyl vania. Count VIII, against the school district, avers a
violation of plaintiff Christopher Klunp s Fourth Amendnent
rights, w thout specifying which particular rights.

Counts I X and X are the only counts joined in by
plaintiffs Toby Klunp and Leigh Klunp. Count |X avers a pendent

state cause of action for negligence by defendants G ube and

2 As di scussed in the section of this Menorandum on Def amati on and

Sl ander at pages 30-31, bel ow, slander per se describes specific types of
sl ander, including false allegations of crimnal activity, where special harm
to the plaintiff is conclusively presuned and need not be proven.
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Kocher. Count X asserts a claimfor punitive danages agai nst

each def endant.

STANDARD OF REVI EW

Def endants’ notion to dismss is brought pursuant to
Federal Rule of G vil Procedure 12(b)(6). A Rule 12(b)(6) notion
requires the court to consider whether a Conplaint adequately
sets forth a claimupon which relief can be granted. Conley v.
G bson, 355 U.S. 41, 45, 78 S.Ct. 99, 102, 2 L.Ed.2d 80, 84
(1957). In determning the sufficiency of the Conplaint, the
court nust accept all of plaintiffs’ well-plead factual
all egations as true and draw all reasonable inferences in favor

of plaintiffs. Gaves v. Lowery, 117 F. 3d 723, 726 (3d Gr.

1997) .
Further, the Conplaint need only put the defendants on
notice of the claimbeing asserted.
[ T] he Federal Rules of G vil Procedure do not
require a claimant to set out in detail the facts
upon which he bases his claim To the contrary,
all the Rules require is “a short and plain
statenent of the claint that will give the
defendant fair notice of what the plaintiff’s
claimis and the grounds upon which it rests.
Conley, 355 U.S. at 47, 78 S.Ct. at 103, 2 L.Ed.2d at 85.
(Footnote omtted.) Thus, a court should not grant a notion to
dism ss “unless it appears beyond a doubt that the plaintiff can

prove no set of facts in support of his claimwhich would entitle
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himto relief.” Gaves, 117 F. 3d at 726 (quoting Conl ey,
355 U.S. at 45-46, 78 S.C. at 102, 2 L.Ed.2d at 84).

In deciding notions to dism ss pursuant to Rule
12(b)(6), courts generally consider only the allegations in the
Conpl aint, exhibits attached to the Conplaint, matters of public
record, and docunents that formthe basis of the claim

Lumyv. Bank of Anmerica, 361 F.3d 217, 222 (3d Cir. 2004).

DI SCUSSI ON

| nterception of Oral Conmmuni cati ons

In Count |, plaintiffs aver that defendants viol ated
18 Pa.C.S. A. 8 5703 by intercepting and replying to text nessages
sent to Christopher Klunp's cellular tel ephone and by accessing
stored text nessages and voice mail messages.® The statutory
provision cited by plaintiffs prohibits any interception,
di scl osure or use of wire, electronic or oral comunications.
Violation of this provision constitutes a third degree felony.
Plaintiffs derive a cause of action from
18 Pa.C. S. A, 8 5725, which provides that any person “whose wre,

el ectronic or oral comrunication is intercepted, disclosed or

3 We note that access to stored text nessages and voi ce mail

nmessages is nore properly addressed under 18 Pa.C.S.A. 8§ 5741. Any violation
of section 5703 requires that an intercepti on have occurred. An action for

di scl osure or use may only succeed if the person disclosing or using the

i nformation did so “knowi ng or having reason to know that the information was
obt ai ned through the interception of a wire, electronic or ora

conmuni cation”. 18 Pa.C. S.A. 8§ 5703. Plaintiff has not alleged that the
stored text nmessages and voice mail nmessages were intercepted. Accordingly,
we will address these clains under Count 11.
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used in violation of this chapter shall have a civil cause of
action....” 18 Pa.C.S.A 8 5725 (a).

Def endants argue that Christopher Klunp | acks standing
to raise a claimpursuant to 18 Pa.C.S. A 8§ 5725.% Defendants
contend that the |anguage of the statute provides for a renedy
only for individuals whose communi cati ons were intercepted.

Def endants further contend that plaintiff Christopher Kl unp's
claimfails because the comunications were not “intercepted”
within the neaning of this termgiven by the Pennsylvania Wretap
Act.?®

Plaintiffs respond by arguing that they “clearly have
standi ng under 18 Pa.C. S.A. 8 5703 to bring this action.” They
argue that defendants’ interpretation of the Pennsylvania Wretap
Act is in direct conflict with the definition of “intercept”
provided in the act.®

Plaintiffs argue that the statutory definition of
“intercept” has no requirenent that the comuni cations originate
with the individual asserting a claim Plaintiffs cite
18 Pa.C.S. A. §8 5702, which defines “intercept” as “aural or other

acquisition of the contents of any wre, electronic or oral

4 Def endants Nazareth Area School District, Victor J. Lesky,
Mar garet Grube, and Kinberly Kocher’'s Mtion to Dismiss (“Mdtion to Disniss”)
at page 3.

5 Motion to Dismiss at pages 3, 5-12.

6 Plaintiffs’” Menorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendant’s Mtion
to Dismss Plaintiffs’ Conplaint (“Plaintiffs’ Menoranduni) at page 4.
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comuni cation through the use of any electronic, nechanical or
ot her device.”’

We conclude that plaintiff |lacks standing to assert a
cl ai munder the Pennsylvania Wretap Act. W find that the plain
| anguage of the act provides a cause of action only to a “person
whose wire, electronic or oral conmmunication is intercepted,

di scl osed or used”. 18 Pa.C. S.A 8 5725. W agree with

def endants that this | anguage clearly suggests that the cause of
action belongs to the person with whom the conmmuni cation
originated, not the recipient. Plaintiffs’ argunment to the
contrary i s unpersuasive.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Third
Crcuit has adopted the following test for a plaintiff to
establish a prima facie case under section 5725:

(1) that he engaged in [an oral] communi cati on;

(2) that he possessed an expectation that the
comuni cati on woul d not be intercepted;

(3) that his expectation was justifiable under
t he circunstances; and

(4) that the defendant attenpted to, or
successfully intercepted the comuni cati on,
or encouraged another to do so.

Kline v. Security GQuards, Inc., 386 F.3d 246, 257 (3d Cr. 2004)

(quoting Agnew v. Dupler, 553 Pa. 33, 37, 717 A 2d 519, 522

(1998)).

! Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at page 5.
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Any doubt as to whether the conmunication nust
originate with the section 5725 plaintiff is resolved by this
test. A claimant nust denonstrate “that he engaged in [a]
communi cation”. The intended recipient of an intercepted
communi cation, therefore, has no standing to raise claimunder
section 5725.

Here, the allegedly intercepted communi cati ons were
sent to Christopher Klunp. Therefore, Christopher’s claimunder
18 Pa.C.S. A 8 5725 nust fail because he cannot neet the first
requi renent of a prima facie case. He did not “engage in [a]
communi cation.” See Kline, 386 F.3d at 257. Accordingly, we

dismss Count | of plaintiffs’ First Amended Conpl aint.

Accessing Stored Conmuni cations

In Count 11, plaintiffs aver that defendants schoo
district, Gube and Kocher violated 18 Pa.C.S.A. 8§ 5741, which
prohi bits unlawful access to stored comrunications. Plaintiffs
aver that defendants G ube and Kocher accessed Chri st opher
Klunp’s stored text nmessages, stored phone nunbers, and cal
records.® These actions, plaintiffs assert, are prohibited by

18 U.S.C. 8§ 5741, which provides that

8 Al t hough plaintiffs raise the i ssue of access to stored voice mail

messages under Count |, we will address that claimhere. W note that in
plaintiffs’ menmorandum of |aw in opposition, plaintiffs do address voice mail
as being part of their claimin Count Il. (Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at page
11.)
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it is an offense to obtain, alter, or prevent
aut hori zed access to a wire or electronic
communi cation while it is in electronic storage by
intentionally: (1) accessing wthout authorization
a facility through which an electronic
comuni cation service is provided; or
(2) exceeding the scope of one’'s authorization to
access the facility.
18 Pa.C.S. A 8 5741. Plaintiffs have a cause of action for violation of
this statute under 18 Pa.C. S. A § 5747
In their nmotion to dism ss, defendants reassert their previously-
made standing argunent. In addition, they argue that a cel
phone does not constitute a “facility through which an electronic
comuni cations service is provided”. They al so argue that
nei ther Christopher’s stored phone nunbers nor his call records
constitute “comunications” within the neaning of the statute.?®
Plaintiffs respond by asserting, wthout support, that “it is
obvi ous that the Legislature has contenpl ated that tel ephones,
i ncluding cellular telephones, are communication facilities”.
Plaintiffs el aborate by explaining that cellular phones nust be
communi cation facilities “because by definition they facilitate
conmuni cation”.
Plaintiffs further state that phone directories are electronic
conmuni cations under 18 Pa.C S. A 8 5741. They support this

contention by asserting that phone directories nay be created

based upon a cell phone’s caller-identification systemrather

Motion to Disnmiss at pages 12-13.

10 Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at page 10.
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t han by user input.?
Initially, we note that defendant’s standing argunent is |ess
persuasive in the context of section 5741 than in the context of
section 5703. The statutory |anguage reflects this distinction.
Wil e section 5725 provides a cause of action to the “person
whose wire, electronic, or oral communication is intercepted,”
section 5741 suggests that either the sender or recipient has
standing. Specifically, section 5741 provides that no offense
w Il be found where access is authorized “by a user of that
service with respect to a communi cation of or intended for that
user”. 18 Pa.C. S. A 8 5741(c)(2). Accordingly, plaintiff
Chri stopher Klunp has standing to assert the instant claim
Regarding plaintiffs’ claimthat Christopher’s call |og and phone
nunber directory are “communi cati ons” under

section 5741, we find defendant’s argunment nore persuasive. Caller
identification systens do, as plaintiffs allege, record the phone
nunber fromwhich a call originates. However, this information
IS not a conmuni cation.
We find support for this position in the definitions contained in
18 Pa.C.S. A. 8§ 5702. There, the legislature provides that the

term *“el ectroni c communi cati on” excl udes *any

1 Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at pages 11 and 12.
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conmuni cati on made t hrough a tone-only pagi ng device.”

18 Pa.C. S. A. 8§ 5702.
Caller identification on a cellular phone is simlar to the
function of a paging device: it records the identity of the
caller, but does not allow for the comruni cation of any
information. Accordingly, we agree with defendants with respect
to plaintiffs’ claimbased on Christopher’s phone nunber

directory and call | og.

We find, however, that plaintiffs may nonethel ess be able to
prove a violation of section 5741 on the basis of defendants
Grube and Kocher’s access to plaintiff Christopher Kl unp's stored
voi ce nmail and text nmessages. Although we find portions of

def endants’ argunent regarding the definition of the term
“facility” to be nore persuasive than plaintiffs’, we note that
def endants concede that tel ephone systens constitute facilities

under this statutory provision. 12

Chri stopher Klunp’s voice nmail, at |east, would have been stored
by his cell phone provider and not in the cell phone itself.

Accordingly, we believe that there nmay be facts which

12 Motion to Dismiss at page 13.

We decline to make any finding at this time as to the proper
[imts of the term“facility.” W sinply note that, even under defendant’s
nore restrictive definition of the term plaintiffs have a claimthat survives
a 12(b)(6) notion.
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I f proven by plaintiff, could support a claimunder 18 Pa.C S. A § 5741.

For all the foregoing reasons, we deny defendants’ notion to
dism ss Count Il of plaintiffs’ Conplaint against defendants

G ube and Kocher for unlawful access to stored voice mail and

t ext message commruni cations. W grant defendants’ notion to
dismss plaintiffs’ claimfor unlawful access to plaintiff’s
phone nunber directory and call log. For the reasons expressed
in the discussion of invasion of privacy, below, we also grant
the notion of defendant school district to dismss plaintiffs’
clainms against it because the school district has inmunity from

the clainms in Count Il under the Tort d ainms Act.

| nvasi on of Privacy

Count 111 of plaintiffs’ Conplaint alleges a cause of action
against all of the defendants for the tort of invasion of
privacy. Plaintiffs aver that defendants published statenents
whi ch placed plaintiff in a false Iight when they reported to
various news outlets that plaintiff Christopher Kl unp was under
suspi cion of being a drug deal er or otherw se involved in drug
use and distribution. |In addition, plaintiffs contend that

defendants fal sely presented plaintiff Christopher Klunp to his
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nei ghbor s,

cl assmat es, teachers and the community at |arge as being a drug
user or dealer.?®

Def endants argue that the school district is immune from
tort liability under the Political Subdivision Tort Cains Act
(“Tort Clainms Act”), 42 Pa.C.S.A 8§ 8541. Defendants al so argue
that the Tort C ainms Act protects the school district from
liability under the Pennsylvania Wretap Act.

Mor eover, defendants argue that defendant Lesky is protected
by the doctrine of “high-public-official inmmunity.” Wth respect
to defendants G ube and Kocher, defendants assert that plaintiffs
have failed to allege that either of them had any contact with
the nedia, or otherwi se placed plaintiff Christopher Klunp in a
false light.?®

Plaintiffs agree that the school district, as a | ocal
governnental agency, is generally immune fromtort liability but
argue that a statutory exception to the general rule of imunity
applies in this case. Plaintiffs aver that the invasion of
privacy cause of action arose from negligent actions of
def endants and therefore should be excepted fromthe immunity

grant of 42 Pa.C S. A § 8541.1°

13 First Amended Conpl aint at paragraph 48.

14 Motion to Dismiss at pages 16 and 21.

15 Motion to Dismiss at pages 22 and 23.

16 Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at pages 13 and 15.
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Specifically, plaintiffs argue that the Tort Clains Act’'s
exception to immunity for negligence in care, custody or control
of private property applies here.' Plaintiffs further contend
that the sanme exception applies to Counts | and Il and all ows
themto proceed against the school district on their Pennsyl vania
Wretap Act clains.1!8

Plaintiffs also argue that 18 Pa.C. S. A 8§ 5725(b) wai ves
sovereign imunity, allow ng suits against the school district.
Further, plaintiffs argue that section 5747 should contain a
simlar waiver, but through an uni ntended om ssion does not. !

Wth respect to defendant Lesky’'s immunity as a high public
official, plaintiffs argue that the lawis not settled as to
whet her section 8550 of the Tort C ainms Act abrogates the
absolute inmmnity of high public officials.?® Plaintiffs make no
argunent regarding their failure to aver any actions by

def endants G- ube and Kocher in relation to Count I11.

e Def endants point out that plaintiffs incorrectly cite 42 Pa.C. S. A

8§ 8542(b)(8), which applies to the care, custody or control of animals.
Def endants’ Reply Brief in Support of Defendants’ Mdtion to Dism ss
Plaintiffs’ Anmended Conplaint at 6. W believe, given the context of
plaintiffs’ citation, that this is merely a typographical error, and that
plaintiffs intended to cite 42 Pa.C. S. A 8§ 8542(b)(2).

18 Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at 13 and 14.
19 Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at pages 19 and 21.
20 Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at page 15.
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We begin by noting that a cause of action based on invasion
of privacy by false Iight may be brought in response to
“publicity that unreasonably places [the plaintiff] in false

light before the public.” Strickland v. University of Scranton,

700 A 2d 979, 987 (Pa. Super. 1997)(quoting Curran v. Children’s

Service Center of Wom ng County, Inc., 396 Pa. Super. 29, 38,

578 A.2d 8, 12 (1990). A plaintiff nust allege “a major m srepresentation

42 Pa.C. S.

of a person’s character, history, activities or beliefs...that
coul d reasonably be expected to cause a reasonable man to take

serious offense.” Rush v. Phil adel phi a Newspapers, Inc., 732 A 2d

648, 654 (Pa. Super. 1999).

The Political Subdivision Tort O ains Act provides |ocal
agencies with a general grant of immunity against tort actions.
The Tort Cains Act states that “[e]xcept as otherw se provided
in this subchapter, no |ocal agency shall be liable for any
damages on account of any injury to a person or property caused
by any act of the | ocal agency or an enpl oyee”.

A. 8§ 8541.

Section 8542 provides a list of circunstances under which
| ocal agencies are not shielded fromtort liability. Each of
t hese circunstances requires that “[t]he injury was caused by the
negligent acts of the |ocal agency of an enpl oyee thereof acting

within the scope of his office or duties”. 42 Pa.C S A

§ 8542(a)(2).
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42 Pa.C. S.

Wth respect to Count I11’s charge of invasion of privacy by
fal se light against defendant school district, we find that the
school district is protected by the grant of imunity in 42
Pa.C.S.A. 8§ 8541. W find that section 8541 applies to defendant
school district because school districts are |ocal agencies

entitled to protection under this provision. See, e.qg., Joyner

v. School District of Philadel phia, 313 F. Supp.2d 495, 504

(E.D. Pa. 2004).
Further, we find that none of the exceptions in
8 8542 apply in this case because the actions alleged are
intentional rather than negligent. The exceptions in section
8542 apply only where “[t]he injury was caused by the negli gent
acts of the |ocal agency or an enployee thereof acting wthin the
scope of his office or duties”. 42 Pa.C. S.A 8 8542(a)(2).

Here, plaintiffs allege that defendant Lesky “intentionally
and know ngly” m srepresented Christopher Klunp to his
classmates. Plaintiffs also allege that M. Lesky confirnmed that
an investigation of Christopher for drug dealing and drug use was
ongoi ng by The Morning Call newspaper in Allentown and NBC
t el evi sion channel 10 in Phil adel phia.?

Gven the intentional acts alleged, it is not possible to
apply any of the exceptions contained in section 8542. W

decline to inport the negligence averred in the m suse of

21 First Amended Conpl aint at paragraphs 49 and 51.
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Chri stopher’s cell phone into Count 111, as requested by
plaintiffs, because the negligent m suse of plaintiff

Chri stopher’s phone did not give rise to his invasion of privacy
claim Accordingly, we grant defendants’ notion to dismss
plaintiffs’ First Amended Conplaint with respect to the clains
agai nst defendant school district in Count I11.

Wth respect to defendant school district’s imunity for
viol ations of the Pennsylvania Wretap Act by its enpl oyees, we
find that the exceptions to the general grant of inmunity by the
Tort Clainms Act do not apply. Each of the possible violations of
section 5703, as well as violation of section 5741, requires that
a person act intentionally. Accordingly, the exceptions to
i mmunity under section 8542 for negligent acts falling into one
of the |isted categories cannot apply.

In addition, we find that the waiver of sovereign inmmunity
contained in section 5725(b) is not effective as to defendant
school district. The school district does not have sovereign

immunity to waive. In Lester H v. G 1lhool,

916 F.2d 865, 870-871 (3d Cir. 1990) the United States Court of Appeals for
the Third Crcuit found that school districts in Pennsylvania are
not alter egos of the state and therefore are not entitled to
sovereign imunity. Accordingly, defendant school district
retains its Tort Clainms Act inmmunity under section 8541 and

cannot be included in Count Il of plaintiffs’ Conplaint. Thus,
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we di sm ss defendant school district only from Count |1 and not

from Count 111.

Hi gh-Public-Oficial I nmunity

Next we consi der whet her defendant Lesky enjoys absol ute
immunity as a high public official against the clains made by
plaintiffs in Count I1l. W note, first, that both parties agree
t hat defendant Lesky, as superintendent, qualifies as a high

public official. See also, Smth v. School District of

Phi | adel phia, 112 F.Supp.2d 417, 425 (E.D.Pa. 2000).

Pennsyl vani a’s doctrine of absolute privilege for high
public officials, where it applies, protects an individual from
“all civil suits for damages arising out of false or defamatory
statenents and even from statenents or actions notivated by
mal i ce, provided the statenents are nmade or the actions are taken
in the course of the official’s duties or powers and within the

scope of his authority.” Lindner v. Mllan, 544 Pa. 486, 490,

677 A .2d 1194, 1195 (1996)(quoting Matson v. Margiotti,

371 Pa. 188, 193-194, 88 A 2d 892, 895 (1952)).
The case law in this area is settled. The Suprene Court of
Pennsyl vani a has held that the doctrine of absolute immunity for

hi gh public officials remains the |aw in Pennsyl vani a. ??

22 Both parties acknow edge that the Suprene Court of Pennsylvania is

the final authority in interpreting Pennsylvania |aw. Connecticut Mitual Life
| nsurance Co. v. Wnan, 718 F.2d 63, 65 (3d Cr. 1983). A district court
ruling in the absence of a decision by the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania may
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Li ndner, 544 Pa. at 491, 677 A 2d at 1196. Section 8550 of the
Pennsyl vania Tort C ains Act provides that inmunity under that
act does not extend to willful m sconduct of a |local agency’s
enpl oyees.

The Tort Cains Act did not abrogate the protections
afforded by the doctrine of immunity for high public officials.
Li ndner, 544 Pa. at 491, 677 A .2d at 1196. However, to qualify
for imunity under this doctrine, defendant Lesky nust
denonstrate that his actions were taken within his authority as

superintendent. See Lindner, 544 Pa. at 497, 677 A 2d at 1199.

In this case, notw thstanding the absolute immunity of high
public officials, we find that plaintiffs m ght be able to prove
a set of facts which would show that defendant Lesky is not
entitled to claimimunity because he acted outside of his
authority.? Accordingly, defendant’s notion to dism ss Count

1l as to defendant Lesky is denied.

specul ate as to how that court would interpret the law. If there is a state
Supreme Court decision on point, however, district courts are bound to adopt
that interpretation. Accordingly, there is no split, as plaintiffs allege,
bet ween the federal cases decided prior to Lindner and Lindner itself.

Rat her, the prior decisions incorrectly predicted the Supreme Court of
Pennsyl vania’s interpretation. W are bound by Lindner

23 For exanple, plaintiffs contend that Superintendent Lesky told the

press that Christopher Klunp was involved in drugs, despite knowing this to be
false. Plaintiffs also claimthat M. Lesky said, “I can't renenber ny
girlfriend ever asking for a tanpon”, which could be interpreted as outside of
hi s duties.
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Wth respect to application of Count |1l against defendants
G ube and Kocher, we find that plaintiffs have averred sufficient
facts to survive a notion to dismss. Although plaintiffs do not
outline the acts of either defendant G ube or Kocher with
specificity, plaintiffs do allege that each of these wonen
publ i shed statenments which placed plaintiff Christopher Klunp in
a false light.?* This is all that is required of plaintiffs
pursuant to Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
Accordi ngly, defendants’ notion to dismss Count IIl as to

def endants Grube and Kocher is deni ed.

Def amati on _and S| ander

Counts IV and V all ege defamati on and sl ander per se against
def endants Lesky and the Nazareth Area School District,
respectively. The parties’ argunents on these counts are set out
in our discussion of high-public-official imunity at page 28,
above. That is, defendants assert that defendant Lesky is
protected by high-public-official imunity and that the school
district is protected by the general immunity grant to | ocal
agenci es under 42 Pa.C.S.A 8§ 8541. Plaintiffs contend that

nei t her defendant Lesky nor the school district has inmunity.

24 First Amended Conpl aint at paragraph 48.
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To establish defamation, plaintiffs nust prove the foll ow ng
factors:

(1) the defamatory character of the
conmmuni cati on

(2) publication by the defendant;
(3) its application to the plaintiff;

(4) understanding by the recipient of its
def amat ory neani ng;

(5) understanding by the recipient of it as
intended to be applied to plaintiff;

(6) special harmto the plaintiff; [and]
(7) abuse of a conditionally privileged occasion.
Rush, 732 A 2d at 651-652.
Sl ander per se, which plaintiffs allege, allows themto
prevail in a defamation claimwthout proving special harm as

part of the test outlined above (factor (6)). Cdenente v.

Espi nosa, 749 F. Supp. 672, 677 (E.D.Pa. 1990). There are four
categories of spoken words which constitute slander per se:
crimnal activity, |oathsone di sease, business m sconduct and

serious sexual msconduct. Cenente, supra. Because plaintiffs

al | ege that defendant Superintendent Lesky publically accused
plaintiff Christopher Klunp of illegal crimnal drug activity,
his words constitute slander per se.

For the reasons stated above in our analysis of invasion of
privacy (Count 111), we deny defendants’ notion to dism ss Count

|V and grant their notion to dism ss Count V.
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Search and Sei zure by Defendants G ube and Kocher

In Count VI, plaintiffs assert a violation of Christopher
Klunp’s Fourth Amendnent rights by defendants G ube and Kocher.
Plaintiffs aver that by accessing Christopher’s phone nunber
directory, voice mail, and text nessages, and subsequently using
the phone to call individuals listed in the directory, defendants
G ube and Kocher violated Christopher’s Fourth Amendnent right to
be free from unreasonabl e searches and seizures. |n addition,
plaintiffs assert that defendants are liable for damages pursuant
to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. %

Def endants aver that plaintiffs cannot prevail on their
Fourth Amendnent cl ai m because the search was justified at its
i nception and was reasonable in scope. Defendants further argue
that plaintiffs fail to neet the hei ghtened pl eadi ng standard
required by the Third Crcuit for violations of civil rights
cl ai mred against a public official. Finally, defendants argue
t hat defendants G ube and Kocher are entitled to qualified
immunity fromsection 1983 clains unless plaintiffs can prove
that these defendants violated a clearly-established
constitutional right and that a reasonable person in the sane
position woul d have known that their conduct violated a

constitutional right.?2®

25 First Amended Conpl aint at paragraphs 88 and 89.

26 Motion to Dismiss at pages 26-28 (citing New Jersey v. T.L.O,
469 U. S. 325, 105 S.C&t. 733, 83 L.Ed.2d 720 (1985)).
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Plaintiffs dispute defendants’ assertion that the search was
justified at its inception, arguing that there were no exigent
circunstances justifying defendants’ search. Plaintiffs also
argue that their factual avernents regardi ng defendants’ search
of plaintiff Christopher Klunp' s cell phone adequately detai
defendants’ m sconduct. Finally, plaintiffs argue that
def endants G ube and Kocher knew or should have known that their
search was unconstitutional. Plaintiffs aver that know edge of
the inproper nature of their actions is evidenced by the fact
that Ms. G ube and Ms. Kocher del eted the nmessages and phone
calls they nade fromthe cell phone’'s nenory card. ?

Initially, the parties di sagree whether the text nessage
from Christopher’s girlfriend was received whil e defendants were
i n possession of the phone, as averred by defendants, or was
di scovered only after defendants had accessed Christopher’s
stored text nessages, as plaintiffs contend. Therefore,
plaintiffs dispute the factual prem se by which defendants reach
their conclusion that the search was justified at its inception.

In deciding a 12(b)(6) notion, we nust accept all of the
allegations of plaintiffs as true and draw all reasonabl e

inferences in favor of plaintiffs. Regardless of the

21 Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at pages 26-27, 30.

- 33-



per suasi veness of defendants’ analysis, we cannot rely on their factual

summary, which differs materially fromplaintiffs’

Regar di ng defendants’ allegation concerning the Third
Circuit’s heightened pl eading standard, we note that the United
States Suprene Court struck down the nore stringent pleading
standard previously applied in section 1983 cases by the Fifth

Crcuit. Leat herman v. Tarrant County Narcotics Intelligence and

Coordi nation Unit, 507 U S. 163, 164, 113 S.Ct. 1160, 1161

122 L. Ed.2d 517, 522 (1993).

148 (3d G

Al t hough Leat herman i nvol ved a hei ght ened pl eadi ng standard

in the context of section 1983 clainms against nuncipalities, the

Third Crcuit has applied Leatherman’s reasoning in different

contexts. The Third Grcuit has stated that “such inpatience
wi th notice pleading enbodied in the Federal Rules is forecl osed

by the Suprene Court’s decision in Leathernman”. Brader v.

Al | egheny CGeneral Hospital, 64 F.3d 869, 866-867 (3d Cr. 1995).

A conplaint is sufficient if it satisfies Rule 8 of the
Federal Rules of Cvil Procedure because “no nore is required of

a plaintiff in 8 1983 cases”. Abbott v. Latshaw, 164 F.3d 141,

r. 1998). Accordingly, we will not apply the hei ghtened pl eadi ng

standard argued by defendants here.
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Qualified I munity

Finally, with respect to defendants’ clains regarding
qualified imunity, we find that, given the facts all eged by
plaintiffs, it is not beyond doubt that defendants G ube and
Kocher are entitled to qualified imunity on plaintiffs’ Fourth
Amendnent cl ai m

Qualified imunity shields state officials performng
di scretionary functions fromfederal suits alleging violation of
a constitutional right, provided that their conduct does not
violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of

whi ch a reasonabl e person woul d have known. DeBellis v. Kulp,

166 F. Supp.2d 255 (E.D. Pa. 2001). Therefore, each defendant
woul d be entitled to qualified imunity unless she violated a
clearly established constitutional right of plaintiff Christopher
Kl unp.

In other words, there is a two-part test. |If the
defendants did not violate a constitutional right, they will have
qualified imunity. Further, even if the defendants did violate
Chri stopher Klunp's constitutional rights, they would have
qualified imunity if the constitutional right were not clearly
established. The dispositive inquiry is whether it would be
clear to a reasonabl e person that his conduct was unlawful in the

situation he confronted. Debellis, supra.
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105 S. Ct.

Al t hough students are protected by the Fourth Amendnent, the
probabl e cause requi renent does not apply to students at school.

New Jersey v. T.L.O , 469 U S. 325, 341,

733, 742-743, 83 L.Ed.2d 720, 734 (1985). The Suprene Court has
held that a student search must neverthel ess satisfy the
reasonabl eness requi renent of the Fourth Amendnent. 1In the
context of searches conducted by school officials, this neans
that the search nmust be justified at its inception and reasonabl e

in scope. T.L.O, supra. To be justified at its inception,

t here nust be “reasonable grounds for believing that the search
will turn up evidence that the student has violated or is
violating either the law or the rules of the school.” T.L.O,
469 U. S. at 341-342, 105 S.Ct. at 743, 83 L.Ed.2d at 735.

Here, defendant Kocher was justified in seizing the cel
phone, as plaintiff Christopher Klunp had violated the school’s
policy prohibiting use or display of cell phones during school
hours. In calling other students, however, defendants G ube and
Kocher were conducting a search to find evidence of other
students’ m sconduct, which they nmay not do under the standard
articul ated above. They had no reason to suspect at the outset
that such a search would reveal that Christopher Kl unp hinself
was vi ol ating anot her school policy; rather, they hoped to
utilize his phone as a tool to catch other students’ violations.

Further, we nust accept plaintiffs’ allegation that the
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school officials did not see the allegedly drug-rel ated text
message until after they initiated the search of Christopher’s
cell phone. Accordingly, based upon the avernents of the
Conpl ai nt, which we nust accept as true at this stage, there was
no justification for the school officials to search Christopher’s
phone for evidence of drug activity.

Moreover, the lawin this area is not as unsettled as
def endants suggest. It is clear, based on the case |law cited by
def endants, that students have a Fourth Anmendnent right to be
free fromunreasonabl e searches and sei zures by school officials.
T.L.O, 469 U S at 333, 105 S.C. at 733, 83 L.Ed.2d at 728.
Al t hough the neaning of *“unreasonabl e searches and sei zures” is
different in the school context than el sewhere, it is nonethel ess
evident that there nust be sone basis for initiating a search. A
reasonabl e person could not believe otherwi se. Accordingly, we
deny defendants’ notion to dism ss Count VI against defendants

G ube and Kocher on the basis of qualified imunity.

Pennsyl vani a Constitution

In Count VII, plaintiffs allege a violation of Article I,
Section 8 of the Constitution of the Comonweal th of
Pennsyl vania. Specifically, plaintiffs assert that defendants
school district, Lesky, G ube and Kocher violated Christopher

Klunp’s right to be secure agai nst unreasonabl e searches and
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sei zures, as guaranteed by the Pennsylvania constitution.?8

Def endants argue that Christopher’s Pennsyl vani a
Constitutional clainms nust fail to the sanme extent that his
Federal Constitutional clainms nust fail. Defendants al so aver
that Christopher cannot recover nonetary damages, as requested in
paragraph 95 of the First Amended Conpl ai nt, because both federal
and state courts have held that no action for nonetary danmages
may be brought pursuant to the Pennsylvania Constitution.?°

In response, plaintiffs assert that the Pennsylvania
Constitution provides a higher |evel of protection against
unr easonabl e search and sei zure than does the federal Fourth
Amendnent. Plaintiffs also argue that because there is no case
| aw abrogating an individual’s right to recover nonetary damages
pursuant to the Pennsylvania Constitution, their claimshould
survive defendant’s notion to dismss.*

Regar di ng defendant’s argunent that the Pennsyl vania
Constitution provides a higher level of protection, we note that
plaintiffs’ Fourth Amendnment claimhas not been di sm ssed.

Accordingly, for the reasons stated in the anal ysis above, we

28 See First Amended Conpl aint, paragraph 93.
29 Motion to Disniss at page 35; Defendants’ Reply Brief at page 6.

30 Plaintiffs’ Menorandum at pages 27, 28.
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decline to dismss plaintiffs’ claimunder Article I, Section 8 of the
Pennsyl vani a Constitution.3!
We find in favor of defendants on the issue of whether
plaintiffs’ claimfor nonetary damages should be dism ssed. In a
case cited by defendants in their reply brief, the Commonweal th
Court of Pennsylvania declined to create a cause of action for
nmonet ary damages for violation of the Pennsylvania Constitution.

Jones v. City of Philadelphia, 890 A 2d 1188 (Pa. Cormw. 2006).

The Commonweal th Court based its decision, in part, on the
fact that the plaintiff in that case would have an alternative
remedy under section 1983. Jones, 890 A 2d at 1216. Here,
plaintiffs also have a renedy pursuant to 42 U S.C. § 1983. W
will not create a new judicial renmedy which the Pennsyl vani a
courts thensel ves have declined to recogni ze under simlar

circunstances. Accord, Ryan v. Ceneral WMachi ne Products,

277 F. Supp.2d 585, 595 (E.D.Pa. 2003).
Accordingly, we dismss plaintiffs’ claimfor conpensatory
and punitive damages for violation of Article I, Section 8 of the
Pennsyl vani a Constitution. However, we do not dism ss

plaintiffs’ clains for declaratory and injunctive relief in this

81 VWet her, as plaintiffs assert, the Pennsylvania Constitution
provi des nore protection agai nst unreasonabl e search and seizure than the
Federal Constitution is a difficult question. The Conmonwealth Court of
Pennsyl vani a has carefully examned this issue and determined that Article I,
Section 8 provides expanded protection in sone instances, particularly where
application of the exclusionary rule is involved. Jones v. City of
Phi | adel phia, 890 A 2d 1188 (Pa.Conmw. 2006). Because we deni ed defendants’
nmotion to disnmiss plaintiffs’ Fourth Amendnent claim we decline to nake this
determ nati on at present.
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count because those clains do not seek nonetary damages for

vi ol ation of the Pennsylvania Constitution.

Search and Sei zure by Defendant Nazareth Area School District

Count VIl of plaintiffs’ First Amended Conplaint all eges
t hat defendant Nazareth Area School District violated plaintiff
Chri stopher Klunp’'s “constitutional rights”, without clearly
speci fying which particular rights were violated. Plaintiffs
aver that defendant school district was grossly negligent and
deliberately indifferent in failing to prevent its enployees from
vi ol ating students’ Fourth Amendnent rights by inplenmenting
policies, practices and procedures designed to protect students’
rights. 3

Def endants aver that this count cannot be sustained if there
was no violation of Christopher’s constitutional rights by the
i ndi vi dual defendants.®*® W were unable to find a response to

this avernment in plaintiffs’ nmenorandum of | aw.

32 First Amended Conpl aint at paragraphs 99, 101

In this count, plaintiffs state that “As a consequence of the
actions/om ssions of the School District afore described, Christopher K unp's
federal constitutional rights were violated as described in Count IV of this
Conplaint.” (First Amended Conplaint, paragraph 100.) Because Count |V
al | eges defamation, we will assunme that plaintiffs meant to refer to Count VI,
which alleges violation of plaintiff student’s Fourth Amendnent right to be
free from unreasonabl e searches and sei zures.

33 Motion to Dismiss at page 34.
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Al t hough paragraphs 100, 101 and 102 of plaintiffs’ First
Amended Conpl aint are not particularly clear, it appears that
plaintiffs are asserting in these paragraphs that because the
def endant school enployees G ube and Kocher are liable for
violating Christopher Klunp's rights to be secure from
unr easonabl e searches and sei zures under both the United States
Constitution (Count VI) and the Pennsyl vania Constitution (Count
VI1), defendant school district is equally liable for those
vi ol ati ons.

We believe that this is sufficient to state a claimin Count
VI11. Because Christopher Klunp's federal Fourth Amendnent claim
in Count VI, and part of Christopher’s state claimunder Article
|, Section 8 of the Pennsylvania Constitution, each survived
defendants’ notion to dismss, we will not dismss this rel ated
Count VIlII. Defendants can flesh out any additional details in

di scovery.

Negl i gence

Count | X asserts a pendent state cause of action for
negl i gence agai nst defendants G ube and Kocher. Specifically,
plaintiffs allege that defendants were negligent in using
Chri stopher Klunp's cell phone to call other students, accessing

his text messages and voice mail, searching the phone directory
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and providing a baseless justification to Superintendent Lesky for their
behavi or. 4

Def endants aver that plaintiffs’ negligence claimnust fai
because plaintiffs do not plead the elenents of a negligence
claim Defendants also argue that plaintiffs nay not support
their negligence claimwth allegations of intentional acts.?®
We found no response to these points in plaintiffs’ menorandum of
| aw i n opposition.

Plaintiffs are not required to plead each elenent of their
claimwi th specificity. Under Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of
Cvil Procedure, plaintiffs need only provide “a short and plain
statenent of the claint that gives defendants notice of the
nature of the claimand the grounds upon which it rests. Conley,
355 U.S. at 47, 78 S.Ct. at 103, 2 L.Ed.2d at 85. Accordingly,
we Wil not dismss plaintiffs’ negligence claimfor failing to
set out the requisite elenents. The details can be fl eshed out
i n discovery.

W di sagree wth defendants’ unsupported claimthat “[i]t is
beyond purview that intentional acts cannot be the basis for a
claimfor negligence.”® Intentional acts mght serve as the

basis for negligence clains in a variety of situations. On this

34 Fi rst Amended Conpl aint at paragraph 105.

35 Motion to Dismiss at page 24.

36 I d.
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point, the Third Crcuit has said that “intentional or reckless
behavior is often relevant to show ng conduct bel ow the
reasonabl e standard of care necessary to make out a case of

negligence.” In re Diet Drugs, 369 F.3d 293, 312 (3d Gr. 2004).

Accordingly, we cannot say that the intentional acts alleged by
plaintiffs in their Conplaint are incapable of supporting a
state-law claimfor negligence. Therefore, defendants’ notion to

dismss as to this count is denied.

Puni ti ve Damages

Count X seeks punitive damages fromthe school district and
fromeach individual defendant. Plaintiffs claimthat the
al | eged actions of defendants “constitute malicious, wllful,
wonton [sic] and/or reckless conduct.”?

Def endants aver that punitive damages are not avail abl e
agai nst defendant school district under 42 U S.C. § 1983.
Def endants argue that both United States Suprene Court and
Suprene Court of Pennsylvani a precedent prohibit the assessnent
of punitive damages against public entities.® Plaintiffs’
menor andum of | aw does not address this argunent.

We agree with defendants’ argunent. The United States

Suprenme Court has stated that “considerations of history and

37 First Amended Conpl ai nt at paragraph 110.

38 Motion to Dismiss at page 37.
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policy do not support exposing a nmunicipality to punitive damages

for the bad-faith actions of its officials.” Newport v. Fact

Concerts, Inc., 453 U. S. 247, 271, 101 S. Ct. 2748, 2762,

69 L.Ed.2d. 616, 635 (1981). The United States Court of Appeals for the
Third Grcuit has applied Newport in the context of a suit
agai nst the Sout heastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority.
Appl ying the sane rationale, the Third Crcuit concl uded that
punitive damages woul d be ineffective as puni shnment or deterrence
and woul d instead inpose the cost of wongdoi ng by individuals on

the public at large. Bolden v. Southeastern Pennsylvania

Transportation Authority, 953 F.2d 807, 830-831 (3d Cir. 1991).

We find that punitive danmages agai nst defendant school
district would be equally inappropriate. Accordingly, we grant
defendants’ notion to dismss Count X as it applies to the school

district.

Def endants’ Additional Argunents

Def endants make three additional argunments which are not
tied to any particular count of the First Amended Conpl aint.
First, defendants argue that suits against individual defendants
acting in their official capacity nust fail because they are
essentially suits against the public entity, Nazareth Area School
District. Defendants also contend that plaintiffs Toby Kl unp and

Lei gh Klunp have not asserted any cogni zable claimfor danages.
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Therefore, defendants seek to dismss all clains of those
plaintiffs. Finally, defendants assert that plaintiffs have
failed to allege a cause of action under 18 Pa.C S. A 88 3926(b),
5301 or 4120. Defendants argue that plaintiffs’ allegations of
viol ation of these statutes are unsupported by any facts or
clains. Therefore defendants seek to strike these allegations

fromplaintiffs’ First Anended Conplaint. 3

Oficial Capacity Suit

As indicated above, defendants seek dism ssal of this
| awsuit agai nst defendant Superintendent of Schools, defendant
Assi stant Princi pal and defendant teacher in their individual
capacities because plaintiffs’ lawsuit is essentially a suit
agai nst the public entity, the Nazareth Area School D strict.
For the foll owi ng reasons, we disagree.

Def endants cite paragraph 8 of the First Anended Conpl ai nt
in drawi ng the opposite conclusion.* Paragraph 8 of the First
Amended Conpl aint states that “At all tinmes relevant hereto,
Victor J. Lesky, Margaret G ube and Shawn Ki nberly Kocher were
enpl oyees, agents, representatives, servers [sic], worknen of
Nazareth Area School District acting within the scope of their

enpl oynent and were agents of the Nazareth Area School District.”

39 Motion to Dismiss at pages 33, 38 and 40.

40 Motion to Dismiss at page 34.
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We do not believe that this |anguage definitively indicates that
plaintiffs intended to sue the individual defendants in their
of ficial capacities.

A personal -capacity suit against a governnment official seeks
to inpose liability for actions taken by that official under

color of state | aw. Kentucky v. Graham 473 U.S. 159, 165, 105

S.¢t. 3099, 3105, 87 L.Ed.2d 114, 121 (1985). An official-
capacity suit, in contrast, is effectively an action against the
government entity itself. To prevail in an official-capacity
suit, a plaintiff nust denonstrate that the entity was the
“moving force” behind the officer’s actions. |In general, this is
acconpl i shed through denonstration of the entity' s policy or

cust om Kentucky v. Graham 473 U.S. at 165-166, 105 S. C

at 3099, 3105, 87 L.Ed.2d at 121-122.

Regardi ng the distinction between personal -capacity and
official-capacity suits, we note that personal-capacity suits
under 8§ 1983 are not limted to governnent officials who are
acting on a “lark” or outside the scope of their duties.
Personal - capacity suits, in fact, could not be brought in
response to such behavi or because personal -capacity suits are
limted to instances in which the official is acting “under color
of state law.” Gaham 473 U.S. at 165, 105 S.C. at 3105,

87 L.Ed.2d at 121.

For exanple, a personal-capacity suit would be brought
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agai nst a police officer who exceeds the scope of a search
warrant. Al though he woul d have been acting in his capacity as a
| aw- enf orcenent officer, and therefore “under col or of state
| aw’, he would not be carrying out the policy of the state police
when he conducted a warrantl ess search.

Accordingly, we conclude that it is not appropriate to
dism ss the clains against the naned individuals in this case.
The | anguage used by plaintiffs does not conclusively
denonstrate, as defendants allege, that the defendants are being
sued in their official capacity. As the United States Suprene
Court has recogni zed, Conplaints are often anbi guous as to
whet her an official is being sued personally or in his official
capacity. In such instances, further proceedings wll generally
elucidate the nature of the suit. Gaham 473 U S. at 167

105 S. . at 3106, 87 L.Ed.2d at 122.

St andi ng

Next we consider defendants’ notion to dismss plaintiffs
Toby Klunp and Leigh Klunp fromthis suit. W note first that
Counts | through VII1 name Christopher Klunp as the sole
claimant. Counts | X and X, for negligence and punitive danages,

respectively, nane all plaintiffs as clai mants.
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Def endants argue that because plaintiff Christopher Klunp is
an adult, his parents have no standing to assert his substantive
ri ghts agai nst defendants.* They are not attenpting to do so.
Rat her, Toby Klunp and Leigh Klunp are asserting their own
substantive rights as owners of Christopher’s cell phone and as
subscribers to that phone’s T-Mbile service network.
Accordingly, we deny defendants’ notion to dismss the clains of
plaintiffs Toby Klunp and Leigh Klunp fromthe First Amended

Conpl ai nt .

Striking Statutory References

Last, we address defendants’ request that we strike
plaintiffs’ allegations of violation of 18 Pa.C S. A 88 3926(Db),
4120 and 5301 fromthe First Anended Conplaint. W agree with
def endants that no factual basis has been plead for these alleged
violations. Further, we note that none of the ten counts in
plaintiffs’ First Amended Conplaint refers to these statutes.
Accordingly, we grant defendants’ request to strike nmention of

t hese statutes from paragraph 20 of the First Anmended Conpl aint.

41 Motion to Dismiss at page 38.

42 See First Amended Conpl aint, paragraph 9.
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CONCLUSI ON

For all of the foregoing reasons, we grant in part and deny
in part defendants’ nmotion to dismss. Specifically, we dismss
Counts | and V of plaintiffs’ First Amended Conplaint in their
entirety. W also dismss defendant Nazareth Area Schoo
District fromCounts II, 11l and X In addition, we dismss
plaintiffs’ claimfor conpensatory and punitive damages from
Count VIl1. W strike all references to 18 Pa.C. S. A 88 3926(b),

4120 and 5301 from paragraph 20 of the First Anended Conpl aint.

In all other respects, defendants’ notion to dismss is
denied. Accordingly, remaining in this lawsuit are the foll ow ng
cl ai ns:

(1) in Count Il, the claimof plaintiff Christopher
Kl unp agai nst defendants G ube and Kocher for
unl awful access to stored voice mail and text
message communi cati ons;

(2) in Count I1l, the claimof plaintiff Christopher
Kl unp agai nst defendants Lesky, G ube and Kocher
for invasion of privacy and false |ight;

(3) in Count IV the claimof plaintiff Christopher
Kl unp agai nst defendant Lesky for defamation and
sl ander per se;

(4) in Count VI, the claimof plaintiff Christopher
Kl unp agai nst defendants G ube and Kocher for
violation of his Fourth Amendnent rights;

(5) in Count VII, the claimof plaintiff Christopher
Kl unp agai nst defendants school district, Lesky,
Grube and Kocher for violation of his rights under
Article I, Section 8 of the Pennsylvania
Constitution;

(6) in Count VIII the claimof plaintiff Christopher
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(7)

(8)

Kl unp agai nst the school district for violation of
his Fourth Amendnent rights;

in Count IX, the pendent state claimof plaintiffs
Toby Kl unp, Leigh Klunp and Chri stopher Kl unp

agai nst defendant school district for negligence;
and

in Count X, the claimof plaintiffs Toby Kl unp,
Lei gh Klunp and Chri stopher Kl unp agai nst

def endants Lesky, G ube and Kocher for punitive
damages.

IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
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FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

TOBY KLUMP, )
LElI GH KLUWP and ) Civil Action
CHRI STOPHER KLUMWP, ) No. 04-CV-03606
)
Plaintiffs )
)
VS. )
)
NAZARETH AREA SCHOCL DI STRI CT; )
VI CTOR J. LESKY, Superintendent; )
MARGARET GRUBE, )
Assi stant Principal; and )
SHAWN Kl MBERLY KOCHER, )
)
Def endant s )
ORDER

NOW this 30" day of March, 2006, upon consideration of
Def endants Nazareth Area School District, Victor J. Lesky,
Mar garet Grube, and Kinberly Kocher’s Mdtion to Dismss, which
notion was filed April 18, 2005; upon consideration of
Plaintiff’s Menorandum of Law in Qpposition to Defendant’s Motion
to DDsmss Plaintiffs’ Conplaint, which nmenorandum was fil ed
April 28, 2005; upon consideration of Defendants’ Reply Brief in
Support of Defendants’ Mtion to Dismss Plaintiffs Amended
Conpl ai nt, which reply brief was filed February 17, 2006; upon
consi deration of First Amended Conplaint, filed March 31, 2005;
and for the reasons expressed in the acconpanyi ng Menorandum

| T IS ORDERED t hat defendants’ notion to dismss is granted

in part and denied in part.

T 1S FURTHER ORDERED that Counts | and V of plaintiffs’




18 Pa. C. S.

First Amended Conpl aint are di sm ssed.

| T IS FURTHER ORDERED that all clai ns agai nst def endant

Nazareth Area School District are dism ssed fromCounts |1, I11I,
and X of plaintiffs’ First Amended Conpl aint.

T 1S FURTHER ORDERED that plaintiffs’ clains for

conpensatory and punitive danmages are dism ssed from Count VII of
plaintiffs’ First Amended Conpl aint.

| T 1S FURTHER ORDERED t hat references to

A. 88 3926(b), 4120 and 5301 are stricken from paragraph 20 of
the First Amended Conpl aint.

| T IS FURTHER ORDERED that in all other respects defendants’

nmotion to disnmss i s denied.

BY THE COURT:

[ s/ Janmes Knoll Gardner
Janes Knoll Gardner
United States District Judge




